

# 2017 Updated Recommendations on the Use of Chlorhexidine-Impregnated Dressings for Prevention of Intravascular Catheter-Related Infections

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

National Center for Zoonotic and Emerging Infectious Diseases

## Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion

Thomas R. Talbot III, MD, MPH<sup>a</sup>, Erin C. Stone, MA<sup>b</sup>, Kathleen Irwin, MD, MPH<sup>b</sup>, Amanda D. Overholt, MPH<sup>c</sup>, Mahnaz Dasti, MPH<sup>d</sup>, Alexander Kallen, MD, MPH<sup>b</sup>, for the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee<sup>e</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Vanderbilt University School of Medicine, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, <sup>b</sup> Division of Healthcare Quality Promotion, National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, <sup>c</sup> Northrop Grumman Corporation, <sup>d</sup> Time Solutions LLC, and <sup>e</sup> <u>Contributing HICPAC Members</u>

#### Suggested citation:

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2017 Recommendations on use of chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings for prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections: An update to the 2011 guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections from the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Emerging and Zoonotic Infectious Diseases, Division of Healthcare Quality and Promotion. DATE. (DHQP website URL to be added)

#### **Disclosures and disclaimers:**

The authors report no actual or potential conflicts of interest related to the commercial products discussed herein. This document is not protected by the Copyright Act, and copyright ownership cannot be transferred. It may be used and reprinted without special permission.

## Abbreviations

Abbreviation	Definition	
BSI	bloodstream infection	
CABSI	catheter-associated bloodstream infection	
CDC	Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	
CHG	chlorhexidine gluconate	
C-I	chlorhexidine-impregnated	
CLABSI	central line-associated bloodstream infection	
CMS	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services	
CRBSI	catheter-related bloodstream infection	
CRI	catheter-related infections	
CVC	central venous catheter	
FDA	U.S. Food and Drug Administration	
GRADE	Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation	
HICPAC	Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee	
ICU	intensive care unit	
IV	intravenous	
MSB	maximal sterile barrier precautions	
NICU	neonatal intensive care unit	
PICU	pediatric intensive care unit	
PCICU	pediatric cardiac intensive care unit	
RCT	randomized controlled trial	
SR	systematic review	

## **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations	2
Table of Contents	3
List of Tables and Figures	3
1.0 Summary	4
1.1 Recommendations	4
2.0 Background	5
3.0 Methods	5
Figure 1: Yield of Systematic Search of Articles Published January 2010–March 6, 2017	6
Table 1. Categorization Scheme for Recommendations <sup>21,22</sup>	7
4.0 Evidence Summary	7
4.1 Patients Aged 18 Years and Older	7
4.1.1 Dressings and skin antisepsis	7
4.1.2 Catheter-related bloodstream infection	8
4.1.3 Catheter-related infection	8
4.1.4 Product-related adverse events	8
4.1.5 Chlorhexidine resistance	8
4.1.6 Limitations of the evidence	9
4.2 Patients Younger Than 18 Years	10
4.2.1 Dressings and skin antisepsis	10
4.2.2 Catheter-related bloodstream infection	10
4.2.3 Catheter-associated bloodstream infection	10
4.2.4 Bloodstream infection without a source	11
4.2.5 Local catheter infection	11
4.2.6 Product-related adverse events	11
4.2.7 Chlornexidine resistance.	11 11
4.2.8 Limitations of the evidence	11 12
5.0 Implementation Considerations for Patients aged 18 Tears and Older	12
6.0 References	13
Contributors	15
Statt and contractors of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention	15
Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC)	15

## List of Tables and Figures

#### **Tables:**

Table 1: Categorization Scheme for Recommendations

#### Figures:

Figure 1: Yield of Systematic Search of Articles Published January 2010–March 2017

## **1.0 Summary**

In 2011, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) and CDC's Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC) issued *Guidelines for the Prevention of Intravascular Catheter-Related Infections.*<sup>1</sup> This document (hereafter called the *2011 Guidelines*) included two recommendations about the use of chlorhexidine-impregnated (C-I) dressings, along with other strategies included in multicomponent interventions ("bundles") to prevent intravascular catheter-related infections. By 2017, additional evidence had emerged regarding the benefits and harms of one or more of these types of dressings for use with intravenous (IV) catheters, central venous catheters (CVCs), and arterial catheters.<sup>2,3</sup> The U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has cleared C-I dressings based on bench testing data, demonstrating effectiveness of the device as a barrier to bacterial penetration to the catheter site, and the effectiveness of chlorhexidine in the reduction of bioburden within the dressing during use. The FDA has cleared a subset of these dressings with the specific indication for preventing catheter-related blood stream infection (CRBSI) based on results from clinical testing data.<sup>4</sup>

This document provides evidence-based recommendations on the use of C-I dressings that update selected recommendations from the *2011 Guidelines*. These recommendations are based on: 1) a systematic review of literature published in English from January 1, 2010 through March 6, 2017; 2) a systematic grading of the quality of evidence<sup>5-7</sup> (Appendix Table 4 and Appendix Table 5); 3) input from infection prevention experts at CDC and HICPAC; and 4) input from the public. Prior to finalizing the recommendations, CDC solicited input from HICPAC and the public on the draft recommendations, reviewed these comments, incorporated relevant changes, and sought final HICPAC input at a public <u>teleconference</u> on May 5, 2017, during which HICPAC unanimously voted to approve the updated recommendations.

#### **1.1 Recommendations**

- 1. For patients aged 18 years and older:
  - a. Chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings with an FDA-cleared label that specifies a clinical indication for reducing catheter-related bloodstream infection (CRBSI) or catheter-associated blood stream infection (CABSI) are recommended to protect the insertion site of short-term, non-tunneled central venous catheters. (Category IA)<sup>8-12</sup>
     (See Section 5.0 Implementation Considerations for Patients Acad 18 Vector and Older)

(See Section 5.0 Implementation Considerations for Patients Aged 18 Years and Older).

- 2. For patients younger than 18 years:
  - a. Chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings are **NOT** recommended to protect the site of short-term, non-tunneled central venous catheters for premature neonates due to risk of serious adverse skin reactions. (Category IC)<sup>13,14</sup>
  - b. No recommendation can be made about the use of chlorhexidine-impregnated dressings to protect the site of short-term, non-tunneled central venous catheters for pediatric patients less than 18 years old and non-premature neonates due to the lack of sufficient evidence from published, high-quality studies about efficacy and safety in this age group. (unresolved issue)<sup>14,15</sup>

These recommendations supersede only the two statements about C-I dressings in the section on **Catheter Site Dressing Regimens (Recommendations 12 and 13)** in the <u>2011 Guidelines</u>.

The updated recommendations on use of C-I dressings for short-term, non-tunneled CVCs do not supersede other recommendations about tunneled CVCs, peripheral intravenous catheters, arterial catheters, and other topics covered in the *2011 Guidelines*.

## 2.0 Background

In 2011, CDC and HICPAC released *Guidelines for the Prevention of Intravascular Catheter-Related Infections*<sup>1</sup> that included two recommendations for C-I dressings:

- Use a chlorhexidine-impregnated sponge dressing for temporary short-term catheters in patients older than 2 months of age if the central line-associated bloodstream infection (CLABSI) rate is not decreasing despite adherence to basic prevention measures, including education and training, appropriate use of chlorhexidine for skin antisepsis, and maximal sterile barrier precautions (MSB)<sup>12-14,16</sup> (Category 1B: defined in 2011 as strongly recommended for implementation and supported by some experimental, clinical, or epidemiologic studies and a strong theoretical rationale; or an accepted practice [e.g., aseptic technique] supported by limited evidence).
- No recommendation is made for other types of chlorhexidine dressings (unresolved issue: defined in 2011 as represents an unresolved issue for which evidence is insufficient or no consensus regarding efficacy exists).

The 2011 recommendations were based on published evidence from the date of the first indexed article in the database through December 2009. The evidence consisted of randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and systematic reviews (SRs) that examined C-I sponge dressings, but not other types of C-I dressings. Between January 2010 and March 2017, new evidence accrued, including:

- 1. two RCTs that examined C-I sponge dressings<sup>8</sup> or C-I gel dressings<sup>11</sup>
- 2. two meta-analyses<sup>17,18</sup> of these two types of C-I dressings evaluated as a single product class
- 3. a professional association's compendium of strategies for the prevention of CLABSI<sup>19</sup> (CDC experts participated in the development of this document, which contains a section that evaluated two different C-I dressings as a single product class).

## 3.0 Methods

CDC developed the following key question using the PICO (Patient, Intervention, Comparator, Outcome) format to guide the search of published literature on C-I dressings in adults (defined as patients aged 18 years and older) and children (defined as patients younger than 18 years).<sup>5</sup>

1. Does use of C-I dressings, compared with use of standard dressings, affect the risk of intravascular infections associated with short-term, non-tunneled central venous catheters in adults and children?

CDC conducted a systematic review of the best available evidence on C-I dressings. CDC then used a modification of the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) method to assess the quality of the available evidence, to determine the strength of recommendations, and to show the relation between evidence and recommendations.<sup>6,7,20</sup>

Two reviewers (Dasti, Overholt) systematically searched articles indexed in MEDLINE and the Cochrane Library for articles published through March 6, 2017 (Appendix Table 1, Appendix Table 2, and Appendix Table 3). Two reviewers (Overholt, Stone) screened article titles and abstracts and retrieved full text articles if they were:

- 1. relevant to the key question;
- 2. randomized controlled trials, systematic reviews, or meta-analyses;
- 3. written in English; and
- 4. available as full-text studies (excluding published meeting abstracts).

These reviewers also reviewed the full-text articles and excluded articles that were:

- 1. conducted in dialysis settings, and
- 2. not RCTs (Figure 1).

## Updated Recommendations on the Use of Chlorhexidine-Impregnated Dressings for Prevention of Intravascular Catheter-Related Infections (2017)

Disagreements were resolved by discussion.

For studies that met the inclusion criteria, two reviewers (Overholt, Stone) extracted data on: the study author, year, study design, objective, population, intervention, outcome definitions, intervention and control events, hazard ratios, confidence intervals, and p-values. Reviewers contacted authors of selected studies to confirm the skin antisepsis agent and use of daily chlorhexidine bathing if these details were not reported in the article. They extracted data as originally presented in the articles and resolved discrepancies through discussion. Two reviewers (Overholt, Stone) assessed the risk of bias for each RCT using an index developed by the University of Pennsylvania Health System's Center for Evidence-Based Practice, as had been used for recent CDC and HICPAC guidelines (Appendix Table 8 and Appendix Table 9).

## Figure 1: Yield of Systematic Search of Articles Published January 2010–March 6, 2017



The guideline writing group (comprised experts in infection control and evidence-based guideline development; listed as authors) reviewed the findings from the evidence review and formulated recommendations based on the balance of benefits and harms of C-I dressings when used for preventing infections associated with short-term, non-tunneled catheters. The strength of each recommendation was based on the categorization scheme used for previous CDC healthcare infection control guidelines (Table 1). The writing group did not consider the following issues when formulating recommendations: cost or cost-effectiveness of C-I dressings in healthcare facilities with different underlying rates of catheter use or catheter-related infections; dressing preferences of providers or health systems; provider opinions about ease of dressing application, removal, or inspection for complications; or the

impact of dressing use on other aspects of catheter care (e.g., frequency of dressing change, compatibility with catheter materials).

Category	Meaning
IA	A strong recommendation supported by high-to-moderate quality evidence
	suggesting net clinical benefits or harms.
IB	A strong recommendation supported by low-quality evidence suggesting net
	clinical benefits or harms, or an accepted practice (e.g., aseptic technique)
	supported by low-to-very low-quality evidence.
IC	A strong recommendation required by state or federal regulation.
II	A weak recommendation supported by any quality of evidence suggesting a
	tradeoff between clinical benefits and harms.
No recommendation/	An unresolved issue for which there is either low-to-very low-quality
unresolved issue	evidence with uncertain tradeoffs between benefits and harms or no published
	evidence on outcomes deemed critical to weighing the risks and benefits of a
	given intervention.

 Table 1. Categorization Scheme for Recommendations<sup>21,22</sup>

Other sources describe additional details of the guideline development process.<sup>21,22</sup>

## 4.0 Evidence Summary

### 4.1 Patients Aged 18 Years and Older

Five RCTs addressed one or more types of intravascular catheter-related infections in this age group (Appendix Table 4).<sup>8-12</sup> CDC classified the following infection outcomes as critical for decision-making: CRBSI and catheter-related infections (CRI). Product-related adverse events and chlorhexidine resistance were considered important outcomes. The results of the five studies were not directly comparable because they differed regarding the following conditions that might influence rates of intravascular catheter-related infections and product-related adverse events: skin antiseptic agents used before catheter insertion and during catheter maintenance, catheter type and insertion site, use of silver sulfadiazine-chlorhexidine-impregnated catheters, clinical outcome definitions, other components of CLABSI prevention bundles, frequency of dressing changes, hospital unit, and severity and types of health conditions of study participants.

The authors of four<sup>9-12</sup> of the five RCTs reported receiving funds and/or materials from, and/or being employed by, the manufacturer of the C-I dressing under study.

#### 4.1.1 Dressings and skin antisepsis

One of the five RCTs compared transparent C-I gel dressings<sup>11</sup> with highly adhesive transparent dressings or with standard, breathable, hypoallergenic dressings. Four studies compared C-I sponges covered by transparent adhesive dressings with transparent adhesive dressings alone.<sup>8-10,12</sup> Each of these four studies specified that the transparent adhesive dressing and skin antisepsis methods were the same in the intervention groups and control groups. However, descriptions of the transparent adhesive dressings varied by study, including: transparent, semipermeable, polyurethane, occlusive dressing.<sup>9</sup> Whether these different dressings (hereafter called "standard dressings") affect the risk of intravascular catheter-related infection is unknown. The skin cleaning and skin antisepsis agents and methods used before catheter insertion and during catheter maintenance also varied by study. One RCT used alcohol spray,<sup>10</sup> one RCT used aqueous povidone-iodine,<sup>8</sup> one RCT used alcoholic

povidone-iodine,<sup>12</sup> one RCT used alcoholic chlorhexidine,<sup>9</sup> and one multicenter RCT used alcoholic chlorhexidine or alcoholic povidone-iodine<sup>11</sup> depending on the facility's standard of care (Appendix Table 6).

#### 4.1.2 Catheter-related bloodstream infection

High-quality evidence suggested a benefit of using C-I dressings to reduce the rate of CRBSI. This was based on four RCTs, all rated at low risk of bias. Reductions in rates of CRBSI were found in three RCTs evaluating C-I sponge dressings<sup>8,10,12</sup> and one RCT evaluating C-I gel dressings.<sup>11</sup> The three larger trials compared C-I gel dressings with highly adhesive or standard dressings,<sup>11</sup> and C-I sponge dressings with standard dressings<sup>10,12</sup> (Appendix Table 4). One of the studies<sup>10</sup> was stopped early due to observed benefit of the C-I sponge dressing. A fourth smaller RCT evaluating the efficacy of C-I sponge dressings found no difference in CRBSI rates by dressing type.<sup>8</sup> This study was stopped early due to low enrollment. Two of the large RCTs<sup>11,12</sup> enrolled patients receiving central venous and arterial catheters to achieve adequate study power. One of these RCTs<sup>11</sup> conducted subanalyses by catheter type and found a significant reduction in CRBSI rates among patients with CVCs, but found no difference in CRBSI rates among patients with arterial catheters (Appendix Table 6).

#### 4.1.3 Catheter-related infection

Moderate-quality evidence suggested a benefit to using C-I dressings to reduce the rate of CRI. This was based on four RCTs, rated at moderate<sup>9</sup> and low<sup>8,11,12</sup> risk of bias, that compared C-I gel dressings with highly adhesive and standard dressings,<sup>11</sup> or C-I sponge dressings with standard dressings (Appendix Table 4). The two larger studies found a reduction in CRI when using C-I gel dressings compared with highly adhesive or standard dressings,<sup>11</sup> and when using C-I sponge dressings compared with standard dressings.<sup>12</sup> In order to achieve adequate study power, these two RCTs enrolled patients with CVC and/or arterial catheters. One of these studies<sup>11</sup> conducted subanalyses by catheter type and found a significant reduction in CRI rates among patients with CVCs, but not among patients with arterial catheters. Two smaller studies with lower study power found no difference in the incidence of CRI by dressing type<sup>8,9</sup> (Appendix Table 6).

#### 4.1.4 Product-related adverse events

Moderate-quality evidence suggested that the use of C-I dressings was associated with an increase in the incidence of product-related adverse events. Two large RCTs found no incidence of systemic adverse events to C-I dressings in patients with ether C-I sponge dressings<sup>12</sup> or C-I gel dressings.<sup>11</sup> Four RCTs<sup>8,10-12</sup> evaluated contact dermatitis and local redness in patients with either C-I sponge dressings or C-I gel dressings versus patients with standard dressings alone (Appendix Table 4). All studies were rated at low risk of bias. Definitions of contact dermatitis varied by study, but all addressed reactions near the catheter insertion site (Appendix Table 6). Two large studies assessed adverse events using a standard rating system<sup>11,12</sup> and found that use of either C-I sponge dressings or C-I gel dressings was associated with significantly higher rates of severe contact dermatitis (requiring dressing removal) or local redness as compared with standard dressings. Two studies found no product-related adverse events.<sup>8,10</sup> Two studies<sup>11,12</sup> found no incidence of systemic adverse reactions.

#### 4.1.5 Chlorhexidine resistance

Low-quality evidence from two RCTs that compared C-I sponge dressings with standard dressings suggested no difference by dressing type in measures of resistance to chlorhexidine in bacteria isolated from skin,<sup>12</sup> CVCs, or blood cultures (Appendix Table 4).<sup>10</sup> These RCTs assessed patients who underwent skin antisepsis with alcohol spray<sup>10</sup> or alcoholic povidone-iodine<sup>12</sup> (Appendix Table 6). Both studies were rated at low risk of bias. These studies were not directly comparable because standard methods to measure bacterial resistance to chlorhexidine are not available and each study used different methods to measure resistance.

#### 4.1.6 Limitations of the evidence

The body of evidence for patients aged 18 years and older is limited by the factors noted above and by the following issues:

- The best available evidence published between 1998 and March 2017 that assessed the clinical outcomes of CRBSI and CRI consisted of RCTs evaluating only two types of C-I dressings. During this interval, the chlorhexidine concentration and the materials and properties of these C-I dressings may have changed.
- Three<sup>8,10,12</sup> of the five evaluated studies did not use insertion site skin antisepsis methods such as alcoholic chlorhexidine recommended for CVCs by the 2011 Guidelines.<sup>1</sup> Only two<sup>9,11</sup> of the five RCTs evaluated patients who underwent chlorhexidine skin antisepsis before catheter insertion. One of these studies<sup>11</sup> found that use of C-I dressings significantly reduced intravascular catheter-related infections as compared with standard dressings, and the other, possibly underpowered study<sup>9</sup> found no difference. Whether the benefits of C-I dressings over standard dressings would be observed or achieve the same magnitude if skin antisepsis with alcoholic chlorhexidine were used for all patients is unclear.
- None of the studies evaluated the effect of chlorhexidine skin antisepsis in combination with C-I dressings on systemic reactions to chlorhexidine. There are increased reports of anaphylactic reactions to chlorhexidine skin preparations<sup>23</sup>. These reports raise questions about how C-I dressings may impact the effect of chlorhexidine skin preparation on anaphylactic reactions. Due to this uncertainty, surveillance should continue to monitor any possible association between use of C-I dressings and chlorhexidine skin antisepsis to determine if there is an increasing association with anaphylactic reactions. As stated in the FDA Safety Announcement on this topic: "Health care professionals should always ask patients if they have ever had an allergic reaction to any antiseptic before recommending or prescribing a chlorhexidine gluconate product. Advise patients to seek immediate medical attention if they experience any symptoms of an allergic reaction when using the products. Consider using alternative antiseptics such as povidone-iodine, alcohols, benzalkonium chloride, benzethonium chloride, or parachlorometaxylenol (PCMX) when any previous allergy to chlorhexidine gluconate is documented or suspected."
- None of the studies evaluated patients who were uniformly bathed with 2% chlorhexidine. One study<sup>8</sup> followed patients in five intensive care units (ICUs), (one of which contributed approximately 40% of study subjects) used both daily CHG bathing and C-I dressings. For this reason, the combined effect of CHG bathing and C-I dressings on CRBSI rates remains uncertain.
- None of the studies directly compared rates of intravascular catheter-related infections or product-related adverse events in patients with C-I sponge dressings versus patients with C-I gel dressings.
- All studies reported low incidence of infections and adverse events and minor differences in incidence between study groups. These minor differences may be difficult to detect in studies with limited study power or in clinical settings without highly sensitive surveillance for these infections. However, the infection rate at which use of C-I dressings would be cost-saving or cost-effective would vary by the cost of diagnosing and treating intravascular catheter-related infections, dressings, and other measures to prevent intravascular catheter-related infections in a given facility. Nevertheless, even a slight increase in infection rates may prompt health care facilities to introduce prevention strategies in order to improve patient health outcomes and satisfaction.
- The studies had limited power to detect chlorhexidine resistance associated with C-I dressings. Little is known about the influence of temporary C-I dressings on chlorhexidine resistance and the protective microbiome of human skin, or the impact of using multiple chlorhexidine-based interventions (e.g., C-I dressings, CHG skin preparation, and CHG bathing) on risk of chlorhexidine resistance. Studies describe associations between chlorhexidine products and clinical isolates with reduced susceptibility to chlorhexidine or other antimicrobials (i.e., colistin) or identified chlorhexidine resistance mechanisms (e.g., resistance genes and plasmid-mediated resistance).<sup>24-29</sup> These reports raise questions about how

emerging resistance may affect the balance of benefits and harms of using C-I dressings to prevent intravascular catheter-related infections. Given this uncertainty, surveillance and research should continue to assess the association between use of C-I dressings and resistance to chlorhexidine or other antimicrobials and to determine if emerging resistance might reduce the benefits of using C-I dressings to prevent intravascular catheter-related infections.

### 4.2 Patients Younger Than 18 Years

Three RCTs addressed one or more types of intravascular catheter-related infections in this age group (Appendix Table 5).<sup>13-15</sup> CDC classified the following outcomes as critical for decision-making: CRBSI, catheter-associated bloodstream infection (CABSI), bloodstream infection (BSI) without a source, and local catheter infection. CDC classified chlorhexidine resistance and product-related adverse events as important outcomes. The results of the three studies were not directly comparable because they differed regarding the following conditions that might influence rates of intravascular catheter-related infections and product-related adverse events: skin antiseptic agents used before catheter insertion and during catheter maintenance, frequency of dressing changes, catheter type and insertion site, clinical outcome definitions, and severity and types of health conditions of study participants.

The authors of one RCT<sup>13</sup> reported receiving funds from the manufacturer of the C-I dressing used in the study.

#### 4.2.1 Dressings and skin antisepsis

Two studies compared outcomes among patients with C-I sponges covered by transparent polyurethane dressings with outcomes among patients with transparent polyurethane dressings alone (hereafter called "standard dressings").<sup>13,14</sup> The third study compared a C-I gel dressing with a sterile gauze pad.<sup>15</sup> Skin cleaning methods and antiseptic agents used before catheter insertion and catheter dressing change protocols varied by study (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.2 Catheter-related bloodstream infection

Very low-quality evidence from two RCTs suggested no difference in the incidence of CRBSI by dressing type (Appendix Table 5). The first RCT<sup>13</sup> of neonatal intensive care unit (NICU) patients with a mean gestational age of 30.9 weeks in the C-I group vs. 30.7 weeks in the control group compared C-I sponge dressings applied after skin antisepsis with 70% isopropyl alcohol with standard dressings applied after skin antisepsis with 10% povidone-iodine. This study, rated at moderate risk of bias, found that rates of CRBSI did not differ by dressing type. However, this RCT had low study power because enrollment was stopped early due to low rates of CRBSI and funding issues (Appendix Table 7). The second RCT<sup>15</sup> of pediatric intensive care unit (PICU) patients aged 1 month to 18 years compared C-I gel dressings with sterile gauze pads after skin antisepsis with 10% povidone-iodine (Appendix Table 5). This study, rated at moderate risk of bias, found that rates of CRBSI did not differ by dressing type (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.3 Catheter-associated bloodstream infection

Low-quality evidence from one RCT suggested no difference in the incidence of CABSI by dressing type (Appendix Table 5). This small RCT<sup>14</sup> compared C-I sponge dressings with standard dressings alone in pediatric cardiac ICU (PCICU) patients aged from birth to 18 years (mean age 21 to 31 months) who underwent skin antisepsis with chlorhexidine solution. This study was rated at moderate risk of bias. Rates of CABSI did not significantly differ by dressing type (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.4 Bloodstream infection without a source

Very low-quality evidence from one RCT suggested no difference in the incidence of BSI without a source by dressing type (Appendix Table 5). This RCT<sup>13</sup> in NICU patients compared C-I sponge dressings applied after skin antisepsis with 70% isopropyl alcohol with standard dressings alone applied after skin antisepsis with 10% povidone-iodine. This study, rated at moderate risk of bias, found that rates of BSI without a source did not differ by dressing type (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.5 Local catheter infection

Low-quality evidence from one RCT<sup>15</sup> suggested no difference in the incidence of local catheter infections by dressing type (Appendix Table 5). This RCT in PICU patients compared C-I gel dressings with sterile gauze pads. This study, rated at moderate risk of bias, suggested no statistically significant difference in the incidence of local catheter infection per patient by dressing type (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.6 Product-related adverse events

Moderate-quality evidence from two RCTs suggested that use of C-I dressings was associated with an increase in severe product-related adverse events (Appendix Table 5). One RCT<sup>13</sup> with NICU patients found severe and/ or localized contact dermatitis developed in 5.7% of neonates with C-I sponge dressings and none of the control neonates with standard dressings. The incidence of severe and/ or localized contact dermatitis among neonates using C-I sponge dressings was substantially higher (15%) among neonates who weighed  $\leq$  1,000 grams than among neonates who weighed 1,000 grams or more (1.5%). Two neonates developed pressure ulcers from the C-I sponge and two other neonates developed scars from severe contact dermatitis. Many of the dressings in affected neonates were placed on or before the eighth day of life. The second, smaller RCT<sup>14</sup> of PCICU patients younger than 18 years reported local redness in four neonates with C-I sponge dressings and one neonate with a standard dressing. Neonates with redness did not require dressing changes or CVC removal, and redness spontaneously resolved after catheter removal in all cases. The study did not report the weights and ages of the four neonates with C-I dressings. Both studies were rated at moderate risk of bias (Appendix Table 7).

#### 4.2.7 Chlorhexidine resistance

None of the studies addressed this outcome.

#### 4.2.8 Limitations of the evidence

The three studies were limited by the factors noted above and these additional issues:

- None of the studies reported rates of clinical infection outcomes by patient age.
- All three studies reported few infections and so were statistically underpowered to detect differences in outcomes by dressing type. Additionally, the rates of CRBSI in the NICU study<sup>13</sup> and the PICU study<sup>15</sup> were not stratified by gestational age or infant weight; this precluded assessment of clinical outcomes by infant age and weight.
- One study<sup>13</sup> used different agents for skin antisepsis before dressing application in the two arms: alcohol spray in the intervention arm and aqueous povidone-iodine in the control arm. These differences precluded direct assessment of the outcomes by dressing type.
- The duration of catheter placement differed by study. The PCICU study<sup>14</sup> reported a mean of 4.7 days for catheters protected with C-I dressings, and a mean of 4.4 days for catheters protected with standard dressings. The PICU study<sup>15</sup> reported a mean of 13.78 days for children with C-I dressings and 14.24 days for children with standard dressings. In the largest study<sup>13</sup> of NICU patients, catheters were in place longer: a mean of 17.7 days for catheters protected with C-I dressings and a mean of 17.4 days for

catheters protected with standard dressings. The potential effect of duration of catheter placement on infection outcomes and severe contact dermatitis limits the comparability of these studies.

## 5.0 Implementation Considerations for Patients aged 18 Years and Older

Select insertion site dressings based on the needs of the patient. Several factors affect both the choice of dressings for patients aged 18 years and older and the decision to add specific dressings to existing CLABSI prevention bundles. These include, but are not limited to, the interval since catheter insertion, insertion site (e.g., bleeding or oozing), physical and chemical compatibility of the dressing with catheter components, patient sensitivity to dressings, and facility procurement and supply management. There are now three different dressings recommended for use with short-term, non-tunneled CVCs in patients < 18 years of age, including the updated recommendations in this report and other recommendations in the *2011 Guidelines*<sup>1</sup> that were not addressed by this update. Most studies of C-I dressings did not use other CDC-recommended interventions that have become routine practice or part of CLABSI prevention bundles (such as use of alcoholic chlorhexidine for skin preparation). Whether study effect sizes would have been of the same magnitude if these routine practices had been used is unclear. To date, evidence is insufficient to define the elements of the optimal CLABSI prevention bundle or which bundle components, when used in combination, would measurably reduce the rate of infections while minimizing complications.

Every healthcare facility in the United States that uses CVCs should track CLABSI outcomes and process measures to identify opportunities to prevent patient harm. Facilities should ensure high adherence to existing CLABSI prevention policies, practices, and bundles using regular audit and feedback and other means, regardless of which type of dressing is chosen. In healthcare settings that are demonstrating success at preventing CLABSI, the addition of C-I dressings is optional.

## 6.0 References

- 1. O'Grady NP, Alexander M, Burns LA, et al. Guidelines for the prevention of intravascular catheter-related infections. *Am J Infect Control*. 2011;39(4 Suppl 1):S1-34.
- 2. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Food and Drug Administration. Biopatch Animicrobial Dressing 510(k) Premarket Notification. 2001;
- <u>http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/scripts/cdrh/cfdocs/cfpmn/pmn.cfm?ID=K003229</u>. Accessed March 14, 2016.
   U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Food and Drug Administration. 3M Tegaderm CHG
- Chlorhexidine Gluconate I.V. Port Dressing 510(k) Premarket Notification. 2012; <u>https://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh\_docs/pdf12/K123679.pdf</u>. Accessed March 14, 2016.
- 4. Administration USFD. 2016 Meeting Materials of the General and Plastic Surgery Advisory Panel. 2016; <u>https://www.fda.gov/AdvisoryCommittees/CommitteesMeetingMaterials/MedicalDevices/MedicalDevicesA</u> <u>dvisoryCommittee/GeneralandPlasticSurgeryDevicesPanel/ucm518493.htm</u>. Accessed April 14, 2017.
- 5. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, et al. Going from evidence to recommendations. *BMJ*. 2008;336(7652):1049-1051.
- 6. Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, et al. GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ*. 2008;336(7650):924-926.
- 7. Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2011;64(4):383-394.
- 8. Arvaniti K, Lathyris D, Clouva-Molyvdas P, et al. Comparison of Oligon catheters and chlorhexidineimpregnated sponges with standard multilumen central venous catheters for prevention of associated colonization and infections in intensive care unit patients: a multicenter, randomized, controlled study. *Crit Care Med.* 2012;40(2):420-429.
- 9. Roberts B, Cheung D. Biopatch--a new concept in antimicrobial dressings for invasive devices. *Aust Crit Care*. 1998;11(1):16-19.
- 10. Ruschulte H, Franke M, Gastmeier P, et al. Prevention of central venous catheter related infections with chlorhexidine gluconate impregnated wound dressings: a randomized controlled trial. *Ann Hematol.* 2009;88(3):267-272.
- 11. Timsit JF, Mimoz O, Mourvillier B, et al. Randomized controlled trial of chlorhexidine dressing and highly adhesive dressing for preventing catheter-related infections in critically ill adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2012;186(12):1272-1278.
- 12. Timsit JF, Schwebel C, Bouadma L, et al. Chlorhexidine-impregnated sponges and less frequent dressing changes for prevention of catheter-related infections in critically ill adults: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. 2009;301(12):1231-1241.
- 13. Garland JS, Alex CP, Mueller CD, et al. A randomized trial comparing povidone-iodine to a chlorhexidine gluconate-impregnated dressing for prevention of central venous catheter infections in neonates. *Pediatrics*. 2001;107(6):1431-1436.
- 14. Levy I, Katz J, Solter E, et al. Chlorhexidine-impregnated dressing for prevention of colonization of central venous catheters in infants and children: a randomized controlled study. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. 2005;24(8):676-679.
- 15. Duzkaya DS, Sahiner NC, Uysal G, Yakut T, Citak A. Chlorhexidine-Impregnated Dressings and Prevention of Catheter-Associated Bloodstream Infections in a Pediatric Intensive Care Unit. *Crit Care Nurse*. 2016;36(6):e1-e7.
- 16. Ho KM, Litton E. Use of chlorhexidine-impregnated dressing to prevent vascular and epidural catheter colonization and infection: a meta-analysis. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2006;58(2):281-287.
- 17. Safdar N, O'Horo JC, Ghufran A, et al. Chlorhexidine-impregnated dressing for prevention of catheterrelated bloodstream infection: a meta-analysis\*. *Crit Care Med.* 2014;42(7):1703-1713.
- 18. Ullman AJ, Cooke ML, Mitchell M, et al. Dressings and securement devices for central venous catheters (CVC). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2015;9:CD010367.
- 19. Marschall J, Mermel LA, Fakih M, et al. Strategies to prevent central line-associated bloodstream infections in acute care hospitals: 2014 update. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* 2014;35 Suppl 2:S89-107.
- 20. Schunemann HJ, Oxman AD, Brozek J, et al. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations for diagnostic tests and strategies. *BMJ*. 2008;336(7653):1106-1110.
- 21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Umscheid CA, Agarwal RK, Brennan PJ. Updating the guideline methodology of the Healthcare Infection

Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). 2010; <u>https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/5712</u>. Accessed April 12, 2017.

- 22. Umscheid CA, Agarwal RK, Brennan PJ, Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee. Updating the guideline development methodology of the Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC). *American journal of infection control*. 2010;38(4):264-273.
- 23. Administration USFD. FDA Drug Safety Communication: FDA warns about rare but serious allergic reactions with the skin antiseptic chlorhexidine gluconate. 2017; http://www.fda.gov/Drugs/DrugSafety/ucm530975.htm. Accessed April 12, 2017.
- Horner C, Mawer D, Wilcox M. Reduced susceptibility to chlorhexidine in staphylococci: is it increasing and does it matter? *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2012;67(11):2547-2559.
- 25. Russell AD, Tattawasart U, Maillard JY, Furr JR. Possible link between bacterial resistance and use of antibiotics and biocides. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 1998;42(8):2151.
- 26. Wand ME, Bock LJ, Bonney LC, Sutton JM. Mechanisms of Increased Resistance to Chlorhexidine and Cross-Resistance to Colistin following Exposure of Klebsiella pneumoniae Clinical Isolates to Chlorhexidine. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2017;61(1).
- 27. Bhardwaj P, Ziegler E, Palmer KL. Chlorhexidine Induces VanA-Type Vancomycin Resistance Genes in Enterococci. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. 2016;60(4):2209-2221.
- 28. Warren DK, Prager M, Munigala S, et al. Prevalence of qacA/B Genes and Mupirocin Resistance Among Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) Isolates in the Setting of Chlorhexidine Bathing Without Mupirocin. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* 2016;37(5):590-597.
- 29. Fernandez-Cuenca F, Tomas M, Caballero-Moyano FJ, et al. Reduced susceptibility to biocides in Acinetobacter baumannii: association with resistance to antimicrobials, epidemiological behaviour, biological cost and effect on the expression of genes encoding porins and efflux pumps. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. 2015;70(12):3222-3229.

## Contributors

#### Staff and contractors of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention

Scientific advice: Michael Bell, MD, Jeffrey Hageman, MHS, L. Clifford McDonald, MD Editorial, Information Science, and Graphical Support: Sonya Arundar, MS; Srila Sen, MA; Rose Pecoraro

#### Healthcare Infection Control Practices Advisory Committee (HICPAC)

- HICPAC Members: Hilary M. Babcock, MD, MPH, Washington University School of Medicine, St. Louis, MO; Vickie M. Brown, RN, MPH, WakeMed Health and Hospitals, Raleigh, NC; Sheri Chernetsky Tejedor, MD, Emory University School of Medicine, Atlanta, GA; Daniel J. Diekema, MD, University of Iowa Carver College of Medicine, Iowa City, IA; Susan Huang, MD, MPH, University of California, Irvine School of Medicine; Loretta L. Fauerbach, MS, CIC, Fauerbach and Associates, LLC, Gainesville, FL; Michael D. Howell, MD, MPH, The University of Chicago Medicine, Chicago, IL; W. Charles Huskins, MD, MSc, Mayo Clinic College of Medicine, Rochester, MN; Lynn Janssen MS, CIC, CPHQ, California Department of Public Health, Sacramento, CA; Lisa L. Maragakis, MD, MPH, Johns Hopkins Hospital, Baltimore, MD; Jan Patterson, MD, University of Texas Health Science Center at San Antonio, TX; Gina Pugliese, RN, MS, Premier Healthcare Alliance, Charlotte, NC; Selwyn O. Rogers Jr., MD, MPH, FACS, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX; Tom Talbot, MD, MPH, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, Nashville, TN; Michael L. Tapper, MD, Lenox Hill Hospital, New York, NY; Deborah S. Yokoe, MD, MPH, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Boston, MA.
- Ex Officio Members: William B. Baine, MD, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD; David Henderson, MD, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD; Melissa Miller, MD, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD; Paul D. Moore, PhD, Health Resources and Services Administration, Rockville, MD; Elizabeth Claverie-Williams, MS, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Silver Spring, MD; Sheila Murphey, MD, U.S. Food and Drug Administration, Silver Spring, MD; Gary Roselle, MD, Cincinnati Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH; Daniel Schwartz, MD, MBA, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Baltimore, MD; Jacqueline Taylor, Health Resources and Service Administration, Rockville, MD; Judy Trawick, Health Resources and Service Administration, Rockville, MD.
- **Representatives of Liaison Organizations:** David Banach, MD, MPH, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America, Arlington, VA; Vineet Chopra, MD, MSc, Society of Hospital Medicine, Philadelphia, PA; Craig M. Coopersmith, MD, Society of Critical Care Medicine, Mount Prospect, IL; Akin Demehin, American Hospital Association, Chicago, IL; Kathleen Dunn, BScN, MN, RN, Public Health Agency of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario; Sandra Fitzler, RN, American Health Care Association, Washington, D.C.; Nancy Foster, American Hospital Association, Chicago, IL; Diana Gaviria, MD, MPH, National Association of County and City Health Officials, Washington, D.C.; Jennifer Gutowski, MPH, BSN, RN, CIC, National Association of County and City Health Officials, Washington, D.C.; Holly Harmon, RN, MBA, American Health Care Association, Washington, D.C.; Patrick Horine, MHA, DNV GL Healthcare; Michael D. Howell, MD, MPH, Society of Critical Care Medicine; Marion Kainer, MD, MPH, Council of State and Territorial Epidemiologists, Atlanta, GA; Emily Lutterloh, MD, MPH, Association of State and Territorial Health Officials, Arlington, VA; Sarah Matthews, MD, National Association of County and City Health Officials, Washington, D.C.; Michael McElroy, MPH, CIC, America's Essential Hospitals, Washington, D.C.; Lisa McGiffert, Consumers Union, Yonkers, NY: Toju Ogunremi, Public Health Agency of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario; Laurie O'Neil, RN, BN, Public Health Agency of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario; Michael Anne Preas, RN, CIC, Association of Professionals of Infection Control and Epidemiology, Arlington, VA; Mark E. Rupp, MD, Society for Healthcare Epidemiology of America, Arlington, VA; Mark Russi, MD, MPH, American College of Occupational and Environmental Medicine, Elk Grove Village, IL; Sanjay Saint, MD, MPH, Society of Hospital Medicine, Philadelphia, PA; Robert G. Sawyer, MD, FACS, FIDSA, FCCM, Surgical Infection Society, East Northport, NY; Linda Spaulding RN, CIC, DNV GL Healthcare, Lakewood Ranch, FL; Donna Tiberi, RN, MHA Healthcare Facilities Accreditation Program, Chicago, IL; Margaret VanAmringe, MHS, The Joint Commission, Oak Brook, IL; Stephen G. Weber, MD, MPH, Infectious Disease Society of America, Arlington, VA; Elizabeth Wick, MD, American College of Surgeons, Chicago, IL; Amber Wood, MSN, RN, CNOR, CIC, CPN, Association of periOperative Registered Nurses, Denver, CO.